IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

SUPREME COURT NO. 16-1666
LINN COUNTY NO. LACV82464

NOLAN DEEDS,
Plaintiff-Appellant

vs.

CITY OF MARION, ST. LUKE'S WORK WELL SOLUTIONS, ST.
LUKE'S HEALTHCARE, AND IOWA HEALTH SYSTEM d/b/a
UNITYPOINT HEALTH,
Defendants-Appellees

*APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR LINN COUNTY
HONORABLE CHRISTOPHER L. BRUNS*

**APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF AND
REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT**

Brooke Timmer AT0002496
brooke@employmentlawiowa.com
Katie Ervin Carlson AT0008958
katie@employmentlawiowa.com
Nathan Borland AT0011802
nate@employmentlawiowa.com
FIEDLER & TIMMER, P.L.L.C.
8831 Windsor Parkway
Johnston, IA 50131
Telephone: (515) 254-1999
Fax: (515) 254-9923

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN FINDING THE CITY'S DECISION TO RESCIND PLAINTIFF'S EMPLOYMENT OFFER WAS NOT MOTIVATED BY HIS DISABILITY

Cases

Bates v. Dura Auto. Sys., Inc., 767 F.3d 566 (6th Cir. 2014)
Boelman v. Manson State Park, 522 N.W.2d 73 (Iowa 1994)
E.E.O.C. v. American Tool & Mold, Inc., 21 F. Supp. 3d 1268 (M.D. Fla. 2014)
Frank v. American Freight Sys., Inc., 398 N.W.2d 797 (Iowa 1987)
Goodpaster v. Schwan's Home Serv., Inc., 849 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2014)
Haynes v. City of Montgomery Alabama, 2008 WL 695023 (M.D. Ala. March 12, 2008)
Huff v. United Van Lines, 28 N.W.2d 793 (Iowa 1947)
Keith v. City of Oakland, 703 F.3d 918 (6th Cir. 2013)
Lafata v. Dearborn Heights Sch. Dist. No. 7, 2013 WL 6500068 (E.D. Mich. Dec. 11, 2013)
Lundstedt v. City of Miami, 1995 WL 852443 (S.D. Fla. Oct. 11, 1995)
Sabai v. Davies, 557 N.W.2d 898 (Iowa 1997)
Stevens v. Iowa Newspapers, Inc., 728 N.W.2d 823 (Iowa 2007)
Wells Enter., Inc. v. Olympic Ice Cream, 2012 WL 2562768 (N.D. Iowa June 29, 2012)

Other Authorities

Iowa Code § 216.6
Iowa Code § 216.18
Iowa Code § 400.8
Iowa Code § 400.8A
42 U.S.C. § 12112(b)(6)
Restatement (Third) of Agency § 5.03

II. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN FINDING THE UNITY POINT DEFENDANTS DID NOT AID AND ABET DISABILITY DISCRIMINATION

Cases

Blazek v. U.S. Cellular Corp., 937 F. Supp. 2d 1003 (N.D. Iowa 2011)

Heick v. Bacon, 561 N.W.2d 45, 52 (Iowa 1997)
Johnson v. BE & K Construction Co., LLC, 593 F. Supp. 2d 1044 (S.D. Iowa 2009)
Maynard v. Nygren, 2000 WL 876911 (N.D. Ill. June 19, 2000)
Platts v. Kelly Services, Inc., 2015 WL 3378257 (N.D. Iowa May 26, 2015)
Reilly v. Anderson, 727 N.W.2d 102 (Iowa 2007)
State v. Lorenz, 2015 WL 4158781 (Iowa Ct. App. July 9, 2015)
Stevens v. Iowa Newspapers, Inc., 728 N.W.2d 823 (Iowa 2007)
Vivian v. Madison, 601 N.W.2d 872 (Iowa 1999)
Whitney v. Franklin General Hosp., 2015 WL 1809586 (N.D. Iowa April 21, 2015)

Other Authorities

Iowa Code § 216.6
Iowa Code § 216.11
Iowa Code § 216.18
IOWA CIVIL JURY INSTR. 3500.4

ROUTING STATEMENT

The Supreme Court should retain this appeal because it involves substantial questions of enunciating or changing legal principles. IOWA R. APP. P. 6.1101(2)(f).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

NATURE OF THE CASE: This is an appeal by Plaintiff Nolan Deeds, pursuant to Rule 6.103(1) of the Iowa Rules of Appellate Procedure. Plaintiff seeks review of the district court's Ruling on Defendants' Motions for Summary Judgment.

COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS: On January 30, 2015, Plaintiff Nolan Deeds ("Nolan") filed a Petition¹ in Linn County, alleging disability discrimination in violation of the Iowa Civil Rights Act, Iowa Code § 216, *et seq.* ("ICRA"). In the Petition, Nolan alleged the City of Marion ("the City") discriminated against him based on his disability in violation of Iowa Code § 216.6(1)(a). Nolan also alleged St. Luke's Work Well Solutions, St. Luke's Healthcare and Iowa Health System (collectively referred to by the district court as the "Unity Point defendants") aided and abetted that discrimination in violation of Iowa Code § 216.11(1). On April 10, 2015, the City filed its Answer. On June 8, 2015, the Unity Point defendants filed their Answer.

On June 7, 2016, the City filed a motion for summary judgment and supporting documents.² On June 21, 2016, the Unity Point defendants filed a

¹ All pleadings referenced in this section are included in Plaintiff's Designation of Appendix, filed herewith.

² The City's summary judgment brief is cited herein as "Def. Br." and the Unity Point defendants' summary judgment brief is cited herein as "Def. UP Br."

separate motion for summary judgment and supporting documents. Plaintiff resisted the City's motion on June 24, 2016, and the Unity Point motion on July 8, 2016. Defendants then filed reply briefs and additional supporting materials. The Court held a hearing on the motions on August 5, 2016.

DISPOSITION OF THE CASE: The district court consolidated the motions and on August 29, 2016, granted both summary judgment motions and dismissed Plaintiff's case without a trial. (Ruling on Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment) (hereinafter "Ruling") (App. 623-640).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Nolan began to experience symptoms of Multiple Sclerosis ("MS") in mid-December 2011. Dr. Richard Neiman rendered a probable diagnosis of MS on December 22, 2011. (Dep. Ex. H) (App. 119-121). Nolan experienced MS-related symptoms again in January 2013, at which point Dr. Nieman diagnosed Nolan with MS, remitting-relapsing. (Dep. Ex. Z) (App. 152-153). Dr. Neiman and Dr. E. Torage Shivapour managed Nolan's care. (Deeds Dep. 152:6-14) (App. 74); (Dr. Shivapour Note, UIHC 6-8) (App. 156-158). Nolan's last MS relapse occurred in January of 2013; he has been symptom-free since then. (Deeds Dep. 149:1-6) (App. 508).

It is Nolan's life goal to become a paid firefighter, just like his dad. (Deeds Dep. 153:23-25) (App. 74). In March of 2012, Nolan took a step toward that life goal and applied to be a full-time firefighter with the City of Marion, Iowa.

(Marion Firefighter Application Paperwork) (App. 561-565). At the time, Nolan had an associate degree in Fire Science from Kirkwood Community College, had earned his Firefighter I and Firefighter II certifications, had experience as a volunteer firefighter, had earned his EMT-Basic certification, had earned a Hazardous Materials Operations certification, and was enrolled in EMT-Paramedic classes at the University of Iowa. (Marion Firefighter Application Paperwork) (App. 561-565); (Deeds Certifications) (App. 566-568). Nolan passed the City's written test for the position. (4/3/12 FireTEAM Test Scores) (App. 546); (Jackson Dep. 26:8-15) (App. 84). Nolan also took and passed a required physical agility test. (Jackson Dep. 26:8-15) (App. 84).

On April 3, 2012, the Marion Civil Service Commission certified Nolan as eligible "for entrance level firefighter positions within the Marion Fire Department." (4/3/12 Civil Service Commission Certified List) (App. 544-545). The City then invited Nolan to interview with Fire Chief Terry Jackson and Assistant Fire Chief Debra Krebill. (Jackson Dep. 26:16-21) (App. 84). Chief Jackson and Assistant Chief Krebill both thought that Nolan performed well during the interview, and neither of them observed anything during the interview that would have dissuaded them from hiring Nolan. (Jackson Dep. 26:16-25) (App. 84); (Krebill Dep. 8:24-9:2) (App. 91). Despite a successful interview, Nolan was not offered a job after the April 2012 interviews. (Krebill Dep. 9:3-5) (App. 91).

In October 2013, the City again invited Nolan to interview for a firefighter position. Chief Jackson and Assistant Chief Krebill were both present for the second interview, and both thought that Nolan again performed well. (Krebill Dep. 9:12-10:2) (App. 91-92); (Jackson Dep. 28:7-14) (App. 84). On approximately November 13, 2013, Chief Jackson offered Nolan a full-time paid firefighter position with the City. (Jackson Dep. 30:14-18) (App. 85); (11/13/13 Offer Letter) (App. 547). Chief Jackson explained that the job offer was conditioned on a successful physical examination and background check. (11/13/13 Offer Letter) (App. 547); (Jackson Dep. 30:19-23) (App. 85).

Assistant Chief Krebill conducted Nolan's background check. (Krebill Dep. 7:23-8:23) (App. 91). Nothing came up during Nolan's background check that would have disqualified him from employment with the City. (Krebill Dep. 7:23-8:23) (App. 91); (Jackson Dep. 30:24-31:2) (App. 85).

Nolan attended a fitness for duty examination at St. Luke's Work Well Solutions (one of the Unity Point defendants) on November 21, 2013. (11/21/13 Patient Demographic Information) (App. 550). As part of the physical examination process, Nolan signed a patient's waiver that expressly authorized "St. Luke's or St. Luke's Work Well to release medical information to City of Marion—Fire Dept. for treatment dates from 11/21/2013 for the purpose of Employment related screening or health care." (11/21/13 Authorization for Release of Medical Information) (App. 549). Dr. Ann

McKinstry, a St. Luke's Work Well physician, conducted Nolan's pre-employment examination. (11/21/13 McKinstry Dictation) (App. 552). Dr. McKinstry has never received training, for treatment purposes, on the Americans with Disabilities Act or the Iowa Civil Rights Act. (McKinstry Dep. 19:11-16, 39:11-13) (App. 100, 526). At the time, Dr. McKinstry had little experience conducting pre-employment examinations for potential firefighters. (McKinstry Dep. 15:14-16:2) (App. 99); (Westpheling Dep. 83:24-84:2) (App. 113).

The Municipal Fire and Police Retirement System of Iowa ("MFPRSI") is a governmental entity tasked with providing "a comprehensive disability program for police officers and firefighters to include standards for entrance physical examinations, guidelines for ongoing fitness and wellness, disability pensions, and postdisability retirement compliance requirements." Iowa Code § 411.1A(2). Iowa law *requires* that the "physical examination for applicants for appointment to the position[] of ... firefighter ... be held in accordance with the medical protocols established by the board of trustees of the fire and police retirement system ... in accordance with the directives of the board of trustees." Iowa Code § 400.8(1).

In her occupational medicine practice, Dr. McKinstry relied on a computer printout to describe the medical protocol to apply for all pre-employment examinations, including firefighters, and she acknowledged it was important to follow that protocol. (McKinstry Dep. 23:15-25:2) (App. 101). The

computer printout, which was printed the day before Nolan's examination, specified the MFPRSI's "FIRE PROTOCOL" should be used, and that forms were available on the MFPRSI website. (11/20/13 "Job Description" Print from St. Luke's Work Well Solutions, p. 1) (App. 548). Though the entire MFPRSI protocol was included on Nolan's chart, Dr. McKinstry could only say that she "might" have referred to it. (MFPRSI Medical Examination Protocol for Firefighters) (App. 554-560); (McKinstry Dep. 47:10-48:1) (App. 527).

In addition to the guidelines for physical examinations established by the MFPRSI, the National Fire Protection Association ("NFPA") has issued guidelines regarding medical requirements of firefighter candidates. This includes NFPA 1582, a protocol that outlines how to determine whether firefighter candidates are medically qualified for a position. (NFPA 1582) (App. 571). NFPA Standard 1582 includes a **blanket exclusion** of any firefighter candidate with MS who has experienced any symptoms related to MS during the three years preceding a fitness for duty examination. (NFPA 1582 §§ 6.2.2, 6.17.1(4)) (App. 571). At the time of Dr. McKinstry's examination of Nolan, the MFPRSI protocol did not incorporate, refer to, depend upon, cite, or in any way require the application of NFPA 1582. (MFPRSI Medical Examination Protocol for Firefighters) (App. 554-560).

During the November 21, 2013, appointment, Dr. McKinstry spoke with Nolan, but never actually physically examined him. (McKinstry Dep. 48:11-15)

(App. 527). Dr. McKinstry believes Nolan “probably” could have performed all the essential functions of the firefighter job. (McKinstry Dep. 66:25-67:3) (App. 531). At some point during the appointment, Dr. McKinstry learned of Nolan’s MS diagnosis. After learning of Nolan’s MS diagnosis, Dr. McKinstry sought out and met with Dr. Jeffrey Westpheling, another physician at the Work Well Clinic. The doctors dispute exactly when this meeting occurred. Dr. McKinstry believes it happened before she made her qualification decision regarding Nolan. (McKinstry Dep. 21:6-17, 51:11-52:3, 72:12-73:3) (App. 100, 103, 105). Dr. Westpheling, on the other hand, believes he met with Dr. McKinstry after she had “already worked through the decision process and had already completed” her examination of Nolan. (Westpheling Dep. 54:15-21) (App. 542).

Dr. McKinstry and Dr. Westpheling spoke for about 15 to 20 minutes. (McKinstry Dep. 54:15-16) (App. 529); (Westpheling Dep. 54:10-12) (App. 542). During the meeting, Dr. Westpheling recalled that he saw Nolan in September 2013 for a pre-employment physical for a firefighter position with the City of Cedar Rapids.³ (McKinstry Dep. 51:11-52:3, 55:8-56:17) (App. 24, 529). Dr. McKinstry and Dr. Westpheling pulled Nolan’s chart from the September 2013

³ Nolan filed a disability discrimination claim regarding the City of Cedar Rapids’ failure to hire him. The district court granted summary judgment in that case, which is also on appeal. *Nolan Deeds v. City of Cedar Rapids, St. Luke’s Work Well Solutions, St. Luke’s Healthcare, and Iowa Health System, d/b/a Unity Point Health*, Iowa Supreme Court No. 16-779.

visit and reviewed records from Dr. Shivapour, one of Nolan's treating neurologists. (McKinstry Dep. 55:17-25) (App. 529). Nolan recalls Dr. McKinstry reviewing Dr. Westpheling's notes in Nolan's presence, a recollection Dr. McKinstry disputes. (Deeds Dep. 141:8-14) (App. 507); (McKinstry Dep. 52:25-53:5) (App. 528).

A fact dispute exists regarding how Dr. McKinstry found the NFPA standards. Dr. McKinstry believes Dr. Westpheling showed her the standards, though at her deposition, she was unsure on what NFPA edition she relied. (McKinstry Dep. 56:1-12) (App. 529). Dr. Westpheling testified he could not recall whether he instructed Dr. McKinstry to use the NFPA guidelines, and did not believe he gave her any advice on how she should decide Nolan's case. (Westpheling Dep. 54:1-21) (App. 542). In any event, after consulting the NFPA 1582 standard, which contains a **blanket exclusion** for **any** firefighter candidate with MS symptoms in the last three years, Dr. McKinstry decided Nolan was not medically qualified for the Marion firefighter position. (Dep. Ex. DD) (App. 179-191); (McKinstry Dep. 49:15-50:2) (App. 527).

Dr. McKinstry never actually conducted an examination to determine whether Nolan could perform the essential functions of the City firefighter job because, once she learned about Nolan's MS diagnosis and medical history, "it was sort of a moot point whether he was available to do it that day or not." (McKinstry Dep. 48:11-21, 67:4-8) (App. 527, 531). The only reason Dr.

McKinstry applied the NFPA standard, despite the statutorily-controlled nature of the examination, was because of Nolan's MS diagnosis and symptoms in the prior three years. (McKinstry Dep. 50:20-52:3, 74:15-20) (App. 528, 532). Nolan's MS diagnosis and symptoms in the last three years were the sole reason for Dr. McKinstry disqualifying Nolan from the firefighter position. (McKinstry Dep. 74:15-20) (App. 532).

Dr. McKinstry disqualified Nolan based on the NFPA 1582 protocol even though the City has never adopted the protocol and the fact that the MFPRSI makes no reference to NFPA standards. (Jackson Dep. 17:25-18:3, 33:6-8) (App. 510-511, 514); (Krebill Dep. 14:3-13) (App. 522); (Westpheling Dep. 33:17-20) (App. 541); (McKinstry Dep. 51:1-4) (App. 528). In fact, no federal, state, or local law, regulation, or directive permitted application of NFPA 1582 in this case. (McKinstry Dep. 50:20-25) (App. 528). Other than Dr. Westpheling's advice, no other source informed Dr. McKinstry to utilize the NFPA 1582 standard. (McKinstry Dep. 29:17-30:4, 56:13-57:20) (App. 525, 529). Dr. McKinstry has not had any training regarding the use or application of NFPA standards. (McKinstry Dep. 21:6-17, 23:10-14, 30:8-10) (App. 524-525). No policy required Dr. McKinstry to apply the NFPA standard. (Westpheling Dep. 46:10-12) (App. 541); (McKinstry Dep. 20:22-21:1) (App. 100).

Three physicians disagree with Dr. McKinstry's conclusion that Nolan was not medically qualified to perform the essential functions of the firefighter

position. Dr. Neiman, one of Nolan's treating physicians, opined that Nolan's MS diagnosis should not have categorically disqualified him from the City's firefighter position. (Neiman Dep. 44:21-45:8) (App. 534). Dr. E. Torage Shivapour, who also treated Nolan, released Nolan to work without restrictions, and did not believe Nolan posed any risk to himself or the public as a firefighter. (Shivapour Dep. 46:4-14) (App. 537); (Shivapour Physician's Report) (App. 570). A third neurologist, Dr. Bruce Hughes, opined that "the reason for the disqualification was not based in fact that Mr. Deeds could not safely perform any of these duties" and that Nolan's MS would not "pose a direct threat to the health or safety of himself or others if he were permitted to work as a firefighter." (6/1/16 Hughes Letter) (App. 576-577).

The MFPRSI provides a form for physicians to indicate whether a firefighter candidate is medically qualified to perform the essential functions of the job. (11/21/13 MFPRSI Medical Examination – For Completion by Physician) (App. 551). If a physician medically disqualifies a firefighter candidate, "the basis for that conclusion should be set out in the 'Comments' section" of the form. (11/21/13 MFPRSI Medical Examination – For Completion by Physician) (App. 551). Dr. McKinstry completed the form but neglected to provide any information regarding the basis for Nolan's medical disqualification. (11/21/13 MFPRSI Medical Examination – For Completion by Physician) (App. 551).

Chief Jackson received Dr. McKinstry's examination form and rescinded Nolan's job offer. (11/25/13 Letter Rescinding Offer) (App. 553). Dr. McKinstry's medical disqualification was Chief Jackson's sole basis for rescinding Nolan's offer. (Jackson Dep. 25:0-12, 31:3-5, 37:14-18) (App. 512, 514, 515). Chief Jackson did not believe he had the authority to overrule Dr. McKinstry and hire Nolan despite the medical disqualification. (Jackson Dep. 39:19-23) (App. 516). The City of Marion never provided Chief Jackson with any training on disability discrimination. (Jackson Dep. 12:12-15) (App. 80).

Chief Jackson, Assistant Chief Krebill, and Dr. McKinstry all agree that there were no essential functions of the firefighter job that Nolan could not perform at the time the City rescinded the job offer. (Jackson Dep. 38:4-8) (App. 516); (Krebill Dep. 25:23-26:2) (App. 263-264); (McKinstry Dep. 66:25-67:3) (App. 273). Chief Jackson did not investigate the basis for Dr. McKinstry's opinion that Nolan was not medically qualified for the firefighter job, nor was the Chief bothered that Dr. McKinstry provided absolutely no justification for her opinion. (Jackson Dep. 22:14-25:12) (App. 512). Though Chief Jackson sought no details, he knew disqualification was related to a medical problem. (Jackson Dep. 53:4-55:1) (App. 517-518).

Chief Jackson telephoned Nolan to tell him of the disqualification and to rescind the job offer. Chief Jackson told Nolan he was not cleared for service per St. Luke's Work Well. (Deeds Dep. 148:5-8) (App. 508); (Jackson Dep. 23:2-

7) (App. 512). Chief Jackson followed up with a rejection letter on November 25, 2013. (Dep. Ex. CC) (App. 159-178).

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN FINDING THE CITY'S DECISION TO RESCIND PLAINTIFF'S EMPLOYMENT OFFER WAS NOT MOTIVATED BY HIS DISABILITY

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