IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

Supreme Court No. 16-1666 Linn County No. LACV082464

NOLAN DEEDS, Plaintiff-Appellant

v.

CITY OF MARION, ST. LUKE'S WORK WELL SOLUTIONS, ST. LUKE'S HEALTHCARE AND IOWA HEALTH SYSTEMS d/b/a UNITYPOINT HEALTH, Defendants-Appellees

ON APPEAL FROM IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR LINN COUNTY HONORABLE CHRISTOPHER L. BRUNS

APPELLEE CITY OF MARION'S BRIEF AND ARGUMENT

AMY L. REASNER (AT0006390) LYNCH DALLAS, P.C. 526 Second Avenue SE P.O. Box 2457 Cedar Rapids, Iowa 52406-2457 Telephone: 319.365.9101 Facsimile: 319.365.9512 E-mail: areasner@lynchdallas.com

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLEE CITY OF MARION

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal by Appellant Nolan Deeds ("Mr. Deeds") from an adverse summary judgment ruling by the district court. Appellee City of Marion ("the City" or "Marion") defends the summary judgment ruling by the district court.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. *Key players*.

Plaintiff Nolan Deeds was an applicant for a professional firefighter position with the City in April, 2012, and again in November, 2013. (App. 71, 80, 91, 166-174.) Mr. Deeds was a volunteer firefighter with the City of Coralville until December, 2011, when he was diagnosed by neurologist Dr. Richard Neiman with Multiple Sclerosis ("MS"). (App. 119-121, 122 and 68.)

Dr. Ann McKinstry and Dr. Jeffrey Westpheling are doctors with the St. Luke's Work Well Solutions Clinic who performed pre-employment physical exams on Mr. Deeds in the fall of 2013 related to his employment applications to Marion and the City of Cedar Rapids. (App. 72, 97-98, 103-104 and 179-180.)

Terry Jackson was the Marion Fire Department Chief at all times relevant to this case. He retired in June of 2014. (App. 79.)

Debra Krebill was the Marion Fire Department Assistant Chief at all relevant times to this case. She attained the rank of Chief when Mr. Jackson retired, around August, 2014. (App. 92.)

B. *Mr. Deeds' medical background.*

December 14, 2011, Plaintiff Nolan Deeds went to an Urgent Care facility because his right hand went numb, followed by his right foot, and the numbness had rapidly spread to his entire right side. (App. 114-118.) December 22, 2014, neurologist Dr. Richard Neiman rendered a "probable diagnosis" of Multiple Sclerosis ("MS"). (App. 119-121.) The right side weakness continued into January, 2012. (App. 123-124.)

The City of Coralville retained Dr. Patrick Hartley, an occupational medicine doctor with the University of Iowa Hospitals and Clinics, to perform a fitness for duty exam on Mr. Deeds. (App. 69 and 126-128.) Coralville's Fire Department did not permit Mr. Deeds to return to volunteer firefighting based on Dr. Hartley's April 19, 2012 evaluation. (App. 70.)

January 17, 2013, Mr. Deeds developed numbness in both feet, was dragging his right leg and had numbness in his buttocks, which Dr. Neiman deemed to be a "typical" MS exacerbation. (App. 152-153.)

B. *Mr. Deeds' application with the City.*

March 2, 2012, Mr. Deeds applied for a position as a professional firefighter with the City. (App. 159-163.) At the time, Mr. Deeds was certified as a Firefighter I and II and as an EMT-B (basic). (App. 67.) During 2012, Mr. Deeds was also taking classes and meeting other requirements to obtain a paramedic certification. (App. 67.) Mr. Deeds obtained his paramedic certification in 2013. (App. 67.)

Sometime in March, 2012, Mr. Deeds took and passed the written Civil Service Commission test to be eligible for hiring by the City. (App. 164-165.) Mr. Deeds also took and passed a physical agility test for the City. (App. 71 and 84.)

In April, 2012, Mr. Deeds interviewed with the City's now retired Fire Chief (Terry Jackson) and then Assistant Fire Chief (Deb Krebill). (App. 71, 91 and 166-170.) The City did not offer Mr. Deeds a job as a firefighter at that time. (App. 71 and 91.)

The City had another opening for a professional firefighter in November, 2013, and Mr. Deeds interviewed with Chief Jackson and Assistant Chief Krebill again, but this time Chief Krebill led the interview. (App. 71, 80 and 171-174.) Both Chief Jackson and Assistant Chief Krebill thought Mr. Deeds performed very well in his second interview. (App. 84 and 91.)

During Mr. Deeds' interviews, he had no observable signs of a physical disability. (App. 87 and 93.) No one from the City asked Mr. Deeds about a physical disability during either interview. (App. 87 and 93.) No one from the City asked Mr. Deeds about a medical condition during either interview. (App. 87 and 93.) Mr. Deeds admitted no one from the City asked him about his medical condition in the April, 2012 interview or the November, 2013 interview. (App. 71.) Neither Chief Jackson nor Assistant Chief Krebill learned anything about Mr. Deeds' medical condition or a possible disability or medical leave from the Coralville Fire Department during the interviews. (App. 87 and 93-94.)

Assistant Chief Krebill performed various background checks on Mr. Deeds in November, 2013, including checks on his social media. (App. 91.) Assistant Chief Krebill did not observe any information on social media indicating that Mr. Deeds had a physical disability. (App. 94.)

C. *Mr. Deeds' tentative job offer and medical exam.*

November 13, 2013, Chief Jackson wrote to Mr. Deeds and made a tentative job offer to him, contingent on a medical exam that indicated "job readiness" and "all backgrounding has been completed." (App. 175.)

Mr. Deeds scheduled an appointment and saw Dr. Ann McKinstry at St. Luke's Work Well Solutions November 21, 2013. (App. 72 and 179.) Dr. McKinstry is a licensed medical doctor, board certified in family medicine. (App. 97-98.) Dr. McKinstry received on-the-job training for occupational medicine and reasonable accommodations. (App. 102 and 104.) Dr. McKinstry performed less than ten total pre-employment firefighter medical exams for Marion and the City of Cedar Rapids during her career at St. Luke's Work Well Solutions. (App. 99.)

Dr. McKinstry discovered in her meeting with Mr. Deeds that he had been diagnosed with MS and had active symptoms within the past year. (App. 103 and 105.) Thus, Dr. McKinstry sought out Dr. Jeffrey Westpheling, her colleague who is a licensed medical doctor, board certified in occupational medicine, to provide her guidance on Mr. Deeds' case. (App. 100, 103 and 110.)

Dr. Westpheling had performed around fifty-six pre-employment firefighter medical exams for Marion and the City of Cedar Rapids during his

5

career at St. Luke's Work Well Solutions. (App. 111.) When performing preemployment medical exams for cities, both Drs. McKinstry and Westpheling rely on the forms and criteria loaded into the computer system to guide their testing so that the testing is related to the essential functions of the relevant position. (App. 101 and 112.)

Dr. Westpheling recalled that he had seen Mr. Deeds in September, 2013, for a pre-employment physical for the City of Cedar Rapids, at which time Dr. Westpheling sought and obtained (with a release provided by Mr. Deeds) his medical records from Dr. Shivapour. (App. 103-104.) Dr. Westpheling pointed Dr. McKinstry to the 2013 National Fire Protection Association ("NFPA") standards binder in the clinic, which contained not only "essential job tasks" for firefighters, but also contained a chapter on "Medical Evaluations of Candidates." (App. 104 and 129-151.) Dr. McKinstry read the NFPA standards on "Medical Evaluations of Candidates," specifically Section 6.17 relating to MS, and also reviewed Dr. Shivapour's records regarding Mr. Deeds' diagnosis, treatment and course of disease. (App. 103-104.)

Based on this information, Dr. McKinstry rendered an opinion that Mr. Deeds was not medically qualified to perform the essential functions of the City's firefighting job. (App. 179.) This opinion matched Dr. Westpheling's opinion, rendered in September 2013. (App. 180.)

Mr. Deeds admits that the pre-employment medical exam is necessary to determine whether a candidate is capable of performing the essential functions of the job with or without accommodation. (App. 71.)

November 21, 2013, Chief Jackson received a two-page fax from St. Luke's Work Well Solutions which stated Mr. Deeds was "not medically qualified to do the essential functions of the job" and was signed by Dr. McKinstry. (App. 176-177.) The fax contained no other information about the reason Mr. Deeds did not qualify as a firefighter. (App. 82-83 and 176-177.) Chief Jackson did not seek any additional information from Dr. McKinstry regarding the fax. (App. 83.) While Mr. Deeds signed a medical release at St. Luke's Work Well Clinic, Chief Jackson stated he did not have a medical release from Mr. Deeds. (App. 292 and 85.) Mr. Deeds' summary judgment pleadings filed with the district court did not establish a factual dispute regarding Chief Jackson's claim regarding the medical release.

No one from St. Luke's Work Well Solutions offered any information about why Mr. Deeds did not qualify for the firefighter position, and Chief Jackson did not ask for that information. (App. 82.) Chief Jackson did not know "what the problem was" and said "[i]t could have been anything." (App. 83.) Nothing prevented Mr. Deeds from informing Chief Jackson or Assistant Chief Krebill about his MS diagnosis or asking for reasonable accommodations. (App. 87, 94 and 76.)

D. The City's revocation of the job offer.

Chief Jackson called Mr. Deeds about the fax and said there was an issue and he "was not fit for duty according to the physicians." (App. 83.) Mr. Deeds did not tell Chief Jackson during that call that he had MS. (App. 83.) Mr. Deeds did not offer any information about why he did not qualify. (App. 82.) Mr. Deeds did not ask Chief Jackson for a conversation about how to accommodate him at the Marion Fire Department. (App. 73.)

November 25, 2013, Chief Jackson sent a letter to Mr. Deeds stating that he regretted doing so, but he was revoking the tentative employment offer. (App. 178.) Chief Jackson decided to revoke the offer because Mr. Deeds "was not fit for duty as a firefighter," not because he thought Mr. Deeds was disabled or required reasonable accommodations. (App. 83 and 87.) Chief Jackson had "no idea what [Mr. Deeds'] physical limitations were." (App. 86.)

Assistant Chief Krebill testified that Chief Jackson never told her he was revoking Mr. Deeds' offer because he had a disability or required reasonable accommodations. (App. 94.)

8

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This court reviews summary judgment rulings made by the district court for corrections of errors at law. Goodpaster v. Schwan's Home Serv., Inc., 849 N.W.2d 1, 6 (Iowa 2014) (citing Phillips v. Covenant Clinic, 625 N.W.2d 714, 717 (Iowa 2001); Iowa R. App. P. 6.907). "Summary judgment is proper when the movant establishes there is no genuine issue of material fact and it is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Id. (citing Swartzendruber v. Schimmel, 613 N.W.2d 646, 649 (Iowa 2000); Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.981(3)). "The burden is on the moving party to demonstrate that it is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Id. (quoting Sallee v. Stewart, 827 N.W.2d 128, 133 (Iowa 2013)). In determining whether the moving party has met this burden, the court views the record in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. Id. (citing Wright v. Am. Cyanamid Co., 599 N.W.2d 668, 670 (Iowa 1999)).

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

- I. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO THE CITY, FINDING THE CITY DID NOT DISCRIMINATE ON THE BASIS OF A DISABILITY, AND THAT RULING SHOULD BE AFFIRMED.
 - A. The City Did Not Discriminate On The Basis Of A Disability Because The City Did Not Know Mr. Deeds Had Been Diagnosed With MS.

9

Mr. Deeds alleges that the City discriminated against him on the basis of his alleged disability when it revoked its offer of employment.

Generally, the Iowa Civil Rights Act (the "ICRA") prohibits discrimination in employment, including hiring or discharge, "*because of*" the applicant's disability. *Goodpaster*, 849 N.W.2d at 6 (citing Iowa Code § 216.6(1)(a)) (emphasis supplied); *see Casey's Gen. Stores, Inc. v. Blackford*, 661 N.W.2d 515, 519 (Iowa 2003) (citing Iowa Code § 216.6(1), *Boelman v. Manson State Bank*, 522 N.W.2d 73, 79 (Iowa 1994)). Additionally, the Iowa Administrative Code ("IAC") requires employers to "make reasonable accommodation to the *known* physical or mental limitations of an otherwise qualified handicapped applicant . . . unless the employer can demonstrate that the accommodation would impose an undue hardship on the operation of its program." Iowa Admin. Code r. 161-8.27(6) (2017) (emphasis supplied).

However, the ICRA "only pronounces a general proscription against discrimination and [the Courts] have looked to the corresponding federal statutes to help establish the framework to analyze claims and otherwise apply [the] statute." *Casey's Gen. Stores, Inc.*, 661 N.W.2d at 519 (citing *Schlitzer v. Univ. of Iowa Hosps. & Clinics*, 641 N.W.2d 525, 529 (Iowa 2002); *Boelman*, 522 N.W.2d at 79); *see also Beaves v. City of Dubuque*, 801 N.W.2d

33, 2011 WL 1584336, at *6 (Iowa Ct. App. Apr. 27, 2011). Thus, in cases of circumstantial evidence, Iowa courts analyze a claim using the federal prima facie case: that an applicant must prove "(1) he has a disability; (2) he is qualified to perform the essential functions of [the position]; and (3) the circumstances of [the adverse employment action] give rise to an inference of illegal discrimination." Goodpaster, 849 N.W.2d at 6 (citing Schlitzer, 641 N.W.2d at 530). Under a disparate treatment theory¹ of employment discrimination, Mr. Deeds must prove that the decision not to hire him was "because of" a disability. See Casey's Gen. Stores, 661 N.W.2d at 519 (citing Schlitzer, 641 N.W.2d at 530). "The final element [of the prima facie case] requires [Mr. Deeds] to show he...suffered an adverse employment decision because of his [] disability." Id. at 521 (citing Schlitzer, 641 N.W.2d at 530-32).

Here, the City focused on the third element, and the district court granted summary judgment on that element.

Mr. Deeds' case fails as a matter of law because it is undisputed that the decision-maker, Chief Jackson, did not know Mr. Deeds had an alleged disability. (App. 71, 87 and 93-94.) Mr. Deeds admits that when Chief

¹ Mr. Deeds' district court pleadings did not assert a disparate impact theory of employment discrimination.

Jackson called him to tell him about the revocation of his job offer because he "was not fit for duty according to the physicians," Mr. Deeds did not offer information about his MS to Chief Jackson during that phone call. (App. 83.) Furthermore, Mr. Deeds never asked Chief Jackson to have a conversation about his condition or job accommodations, nor did he seek a second opinion or ask to speak to the City's Human Resources office. (App. 73 and 87.)

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